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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Petitioner Richard Rotter asks this Court to grant review of 

the court of appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Rotter, No. 

85246-9-I, filed February 18, 2025 (appended). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is review warranted to determine whether the court 

of appeals misapplied RAP 2.5(a)(3) to refuse to reach the merits 

of CrR 3 .6 suppression issue that was litigated below and ruled on 

by the trial court in everything but name? 

2. Is review warranted to determine whether there is 

insufficient evidence to establish premeditation on a more likely 

than not basis, as required by due process? 

3. Is review warranted to determine whether a police 

officer's "ultimate conclusion" that the evidence is "consistent 

with" drug dealing amounts to an improper opinion on guilt? 

4. Is review warranted to determine whether the 

prosecutor's personal opinion on the defense expert's credibility, 
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expressed in closing argument, irreparably undermined Rotter's 

diminished capacity defense? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involves an encounter that resulted in the tragic 

death of Everett Police Officer Daniel Rocha. Rotter admitted to 

shooting and killing Officer Rocha. The main dispute at Rotter's 

jury trial was whether he premeditated or merely intended 

Officer Rocha's death. 

On March 25, 2022, in a Starbucks parking lot in North 

Everett, Rotter bought a Ford Fusion from a Craigslist seller, 

paying around $4,000 in cash for it. RP 1793-97, 1805. Still in 

the Starbucks parking lot, Rotter began transferring items from 

the Mini Cooper he drove there to the Ford Fusion he just 

purchased, which were parked next to each other. RP 1173-74; 

CP 439-40. This included a .22 caliber rifle. RP 2040-41. Rotter 

had a prior felony conviction that prohibited him from possessing 

firearms. RP 2391. 
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At 2:03 p.m., Officer Rocha was inside the Starbucks 

waiting for his coffee order when he saw Rotter move a gun 

between the two vehicles. Ex. 606 (0:00-0:25 Elapsed Time, 

"ET"); CP 437. Officer Rocha went outside to investigate, 

radioing it in as "suspicious." Ex. 606 (0:22-0:40 ET). The 

entire encounter between Officer Rocha and Rotter, which lasted 

about eight and a half minutes, was captured on Officer Rocha's 

body worn camera (BWC). Ex. 606; RP 1886-87. 

Officer Rocha stopped at the Mini Cooper's taillight and 

said to Rotter, "Hey, how's it going. Do me a favor, bud leave 

the guns alone. Ok?" CP 436; Ex. 606 (0:40 ET). Officer Rocha 

asked, "What's going on with the guns?" CP 436. Rotter told 

him, "Nothing," explaining he had just bought the car, which was 

going to his wife. CP 436. Officer Rocha looked in the back 

passenger window of the Ford Fusion, saw the rifle, and told 

Rotter, "There's a gun right there." CP 437; Ex. 606 (1: 12 ET). 

Rotter responded, "BB." Ex. 606 (1: 16 ET). 
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At that point, 42 seconds into the encounter, Officer Rocha 

receiving an incoming call and told Rotter to "just hang tight for 

a second." CP 437; Ex. 606 (1 :20 ET). Officer Rocha told the 

person on the phone, "I saw a guy moving a gun from one car to 

another car." CP 437. After he hung up, Officer Rocha 

confronted Rotter that he saw him open the car door "to conceal 

what you're doing." CP 437. Rotter explained, "I didn't want 

nobody freaking out." CP 437. 

Officer Rocha asked Rotter for identification at 2:06 p.m. 

CP 438; Ex. 606 (2:12 ET). Officer Rocha followed up, 

"Where's your ID, do you have any guns on you right now on 

your hips?" CP 438. Rotter responded, "Nope." CP 438. Rotter 

then lifted his coat so Officer Rocha could conduct a brief pat 

down of his waistband. CP 438; Ex. 606 (2:20 ET). Officer 

Rocha did not find the 9mm pistol Rotter had in a shoulder 

holster underneath his bulky coat. Ex. 606 (2:20-2:29 ET). 

Officer Rocha then checked Rotter's identification and ran 

his name through dispatch. CP 439; Ex. 606 (3 :04 ET). At 2:09 
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p.m., Officer Rocha informed Rotter that he had an outstanding 

"DV assault warrant" and so he was not free to go. CP 441; Ex. 

606 (5:20 ET). Rotter explained the only possible warrant he had 

was a material witness warrant because his son-in-law hit him in 

the head with a baseball bat. CP 441. He showed Officer Rocha 

the injury to his head. Ex. 606 (5:38 ET). 

Officer Rocha reiterated Rotter was not free to go. CP 

441. Officer Rocha asked dispatch, "I just want to verify that 

he's not a convicted felon, correct?" CP 441. Rotter 

volunteered, "I am a convicted felon." CP 441. At 2: 11 p.m., 

Officer Rocha told Rotter again he was "definitely not able to 

go," because he was "being investigated on suspicion of unlawful 

possession of a firearm." CP 443. 

Rotter started to become agitated. CP 443; Ex. 606 (7:23-

7:50 ET). Officer Rocha asked Rotter more questions about the 

rifle in the backseat and whether it was a BB gun or not. CP 443. 

Rotter offered, "You can look at it," and made a movement 

towards the vehicle. CP 443; Ex. 606 (7:42 ET). Officer Rocha 
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instructed him not to go towards the car. CP 444. Rotter kept 

repeating, 'Tm just saying . . . .  " CP 444. 

At 2: 11 p.m., Officer Rocha told Rotter he was not 

listening and ordered him to tum around because he was being 

detained. CP 444; Ex. 606 (7:50 ET). Officer Rocha pushed 

Rotter against the trunk of the Mini Cooper and attempted to 

handcuff him, while Rotter tried to keep his hands free. Ex. 606 

(7:55-8:29 ET); Ex. 141. The two struggled, with Officer Rocha 

repeatedly commanding Rotter, "Put your hands behind your 

back," and warning him, 'Tm going to throw you to the ground 

if you do not put your hands behind your back." CP 444-45; Ex. 

606 (7:59 ET). Rotter begged Officer Rocha, "Please knock it 

off," repeating, "Please." CP 445. 

Rotter admitted he "freaked out" at this point. Ex. 729 

(1 :33 ET). The pistol from his shoulder holster can be seen in 

his right hand as Officer Rocha took him to the pavement. Ex. 

141 (0: 18 ET). With Officer Rocha on top of him on the ground, 

Rotter fired the gun five times. Ex. 141 (0:20 ET). One shot hit 
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Officer Rocha's Kevlar vest, and another hit his shoulder. RP 

1856, 1866-67. The next three shots hit Officer Rocha in the 

head. RP 1846-50. Four seconds elapsed from the time the gun 

can be seen to the fifth shot. Ex. 141 (0: 18-0:23 ET). 

Rotter dropped the pistol at the scene and jumped into the 

Mini Cooper, leaving all of his belongings behind in the Ford 

Fusion. RP 1263-65, 2021-29. Rotter fled the scene at 2:12 

p.m.-nine minutes after Officer Rocha approached him­

driving erratically through the streets of Everett with multiple 

police officers in pursuit. RP 1606-15; Ex. 606 (8:51 ET). 

Police apprehended Rotter six minutes later, at 2: 18 p.m., 

after he crashed the Mini Cooper. Ex. 609 (1 :45 ET). Rotter 

complied with orders to get on the ground while sobbing and 

screaming repeatedly, "They're after me." Ex. 610 (2:30-4:25 

ET). A blood draw taken a little less than an hour after Rotter's 

arrest showed he had high levels of methamphetamine and 

fentanyl in his system. RP 2311-23, 2537-38. 
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Law enforcement searched the Ford Fusion. RP 2012-13. 

In the front passenger footwell was a grocery bag with aluminum 

foil and sandwich bags. RP 2042. Inside a camera bag on the 

front passenger seat were two baggies of heroin, a baggie of 

methamphetamine, 1,950 blue pills of suspected fentanyl, 

several small baggies, a scale, a hypodermic needle, and burnt 

tinfoil with three partially consumed fentanyl pills on top. RP 

2064-67. On the backseat was the .22 caliber rifle and a 

notebook with names and dollar amounts. RP 2041-42. 

The prosecution charged Rotter with aggravated first 

degree murder (Count 1 ), second degree unlawful possession of 

a firearm (Count 2), possession of a controlled substances with 

intent to deliver, (Count 3), and attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle (Count 4). CP 167-68. 

The defense theory at Rotter's jury trial was that the 

combination of mental illness, cognitive impairment, and drug 

use compromised Rotter's mental state and prevented him from 

premeditating Officer Rocha's death. RP 1162-66. Dr. Wendi 
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Wachsmuth, a licensed clinical psychologist, conducted a 

psychological evaluation with Rotter. RP 2409-11. Dr. 

Wachsmuth diagnosed Rotter with PTSD, pervasive depressive 

disorder, mild neurocognitive disorder, and multiple substance 

use disorders. RP 2415. Dr. Wachsmuth' s testing showed Rotter 

had severe deficits in forming plans, acting intentionally, and 

responding appropriately to incoming information, especially in 

a heightened emotional state. RP 2437-41. 

Dr. Wachsmuth concluded Rotter's executive functioning 

deficits compounded during his interaction with Officer Rocha. 

RP 2449-51. She acknowledged Rotter intended to kill Officer 

Rocha. 1 RP 2456-57. But Dr. Wachsmuth did not believe Rotter 

premeditated Officer Rocha's death, instead reacting with 

impulsive violence to escape a stressful event. RP 2450-52. She 

testified Rotter's behavior when arrested was "concurrent with 

someone in an extremely altered state of mind." RP 2454. 

1 The jury was instructed on the inferior offense of second degree 
intentional murder. CP 83-85. 
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Dr. Granville Storey, a PhD in physiology and biophysics, 

testified to the effects of fentanyl and methamphetamine, which 

Rotter had at high levels in his system. RP 2536-40, 2550. Dr. 

Storey believed it "highly likely" that Rotter was experiencing 

the combined effects of those substances. RP 2550. Dr. Storey 

concluded the potential for unplanned, irrational behavior 

existed in Rotter's case. RP 2555-56. 

The jury convicted Rotter as charged on all four counts. CP 

56-65. The trial court sentenced Rotter to mandatory life without 

parole for the aggravated murder. CP 34. The court of appeals 

affirmed Rotter's convictions, but remanded for the trial court to 

resentence him on Count 3 and strike the $500 victim penalty 

assessment from his judgment and sentence. Opinion, 28. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Review is warranted to determine whether the 

court of appeals misapplied RAP 2.5(a)(3) to 

refuse to reach of the merits of a suppression issue 

litigated in and ruled on by the trial court. 

Rotter argued on appeal that Officer Rocha illegally seized 

him absent reasonable suspicion of criminal activity when Officer 

Rocha approached him and commanded him to "leave the guns 

alone." Br. of Appellant, 28-46. Evidence that Rotter lied about 

having a gun on him and concealed the pistol in his shoulder 

holster was discovered as a result of the illegal seizure. Ex. 606 

(2:15-2:22 ET). Where that evidence was critical to the 

prosecution's theory of premeditation, Rotter argued, reversal of 

his aggravated murder conviction was necessary. Br. of Appellant, 

45-46. The court of appeals ultimately refused to reach the merits 

of Rotter's unlawful seizure claim, concluding Rotter "fails to 

show manifest constitutional error." Opinion, 14. 

Before Rotter's trial, the prosecution filed a "3 .5 

Memorandum," arguing the encounter between Officer Rocha and 
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Rotter was merely a social contact, at most a seizure or "Tum 

stop,"2 that did not trigger the need for Miranda3 warnings. CP 

425-30. The prosecution noted Officer Rocha's BWC "captured 

the entirety of the interaction." CP 422-23. 

Defense counsel filed a written response, arguing Rotter 

was seized from the outset of the encounter, when Officer Rocha 

approached him and immediately issued a command to "leave the 

guns alone." CP 172. Counsel asserted Officer Rocha's 

observation of Rotter merely moving a gun from one car to another 

did not amount to reasonable suspicion necessary to justify the 

seizure. CP 172-73. Counsel failed to recognize the consequence 

of an invalid Tum stop, indicating, "The remedy for this unlawful 

seizure is unclear." CP 173. 

2 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 
(1968). 

3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 
694 (1966). 
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Rotter acknowledged on appeal that defense counsel did not 

comply with CrR 3.6(a), which mandates motions to suppress 

evidence must be in writing, "supported by an affidavit or 

document setting forth the facts the moving party anticipates will 

be elicited at a hearing." Br. of Appellant, 31. Nevertheless, the 

parties effectively litigated the Tum stop issue, although conflated 

the questions of (1) whether Rotter was subjected to custodial 

interrogation that necessitated Miranda warnings, implicating CrR 

3.5, and (2) whether there was reasonable suspicion to seize Rotter, 

implicating CrR 3 .6. 

Critically, the trial court addressed the Tum stop issue on 

its merits after reviewing Officer Rocha's body worn camera and 

hearing argument from the parties. RP 2762, 2776-81. The court 

found there was immediate seizure, but concluded it was supported 

by "reasonable suspicion which gave rise to a Tum stop." RP 

2781. The court entered written findings of fact "pursuant to CrR 

3.5," but plainly ruling on the suppression issue: 
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1. The Court does not find that the contact 
between Officer Rocha and defendant was a "social 
contact". 

2. The Court does find that the contact 
between Officer Rocha and defendant was a valid 
Terry contact, and that the contact between Officer 
Rocha and defendant was appropriate. 

3. Based upon what Officer Rocha saw, 
and the reasonable inferences that one could draw 
from this, Officer Rocha had a reasonable suspicion 
based on specific and articulable facts that criminal 
activity was occurring or what about to occur. 
Specifically, because defendant was the sole 
individual moving items between two different cars 
in a parking lot and appeared to be attempting to 
conceal what he was doing, it was reasonable to 
believe that defendant might be involved in a theft. 

CP 51. The trial court therefore addressed the two issues Rotter 

raised on appeal: (1) whether there was a seizure and (2) whether 

there was reasonable suspicion for that seizure. 

Rotter maintained the suppression issue could therefore be 

reviewed on appeal, for two reasons. First, as described, the issue 

was litigated on the merits and the trial court made relevant 

findings of fact and conclusions of law, notwithstanding defense 

counsel's lack of compliance with CrR 3.6. Second, the question 
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of an illegal seizure is a constitutional one, reviewable for the first 

time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3) because "[a]ll the facts 

necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are in the record on 

appeal." State v. Jones, 163 Wn. App. 354, 360, 266 P.3d 886 

(2011). 

The court of appeals disagreed on both counts. The court 

reasoned, "because Rotter failed to request a CrR 3.6 suppression 

hearing, the State had no opportunity to develop a record to show 

how the initial seizure was lawful." Opinion, 14. The court of 

appeals therefore concluded the record was insufficient for review 

of the suppression issue. Opinion, 14. 

This conclusion conflicts with the record and the law. 

Whether a seizure occurred and whether it was supported by 

reasonable suspicion are both objective inquiries. State v. Sum, 

199 Wn.2d 627, 631, 511 P.3d 92 (2022); State v. Gatewood, 163 

Wn.2d 534, 539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008). A person is seized "if, 

based on the totality of the circumstances, an objective observer 

could conclude that the person was not free to leave, to refuse a 
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request, or to otherwise terminate the encounter due to law 

enforcement's display of authority or use of physical force." Sum, 

199 Wn.2d at 631. And reasonable, articulable suspicion means 

specific, objective facts that the person seized has committed or is 

about to commit a crime. Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d at 539. 

The court of appeals did not articulate any missing facts that 

might be necessary or useful to address the suppression issue. That 

is because there are none. As the trial court found, without dispute, 

"The entirety of the contact between Officer Rocha and defendant 

was video and audio taped by the BWC worn by Officer Rocha." 

CP 49. Officer Rocha could not testify at any CrR 3.6 hearing.4 

No additional facts beyond the BWC video could go to the 

objective inquiries before the court: (1) whether an objective 

observer could conclude Rotter was not free to refuse Officer 

Rocha's command to "leave the guns alone," and (2) whether 

4 Both parties agreed the trial court could "take reasonable 
inferences from what [the court] observed on the video without 
hearing specific testimony from the officer involved." RP 2780. 
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Officer Rocha had objective facts that Rotter was engaged in 

criminal activity based on what he observed from inside the 

Starbucks. Indeed, although the prosecution contested 

manifestness on appeal, it did not argue the record was inadequate 

for review. Br. ofResp't, 28-32. To the contrary, the prosecution 

gave a full response on the merits. Br. of Resp't, 32-56. 

The court of appeals alternatively held, "even if the record 

were adequate for review, Rotter fails to show actual prejudice." 

Opinion, 14. The court of appeals emphasized the trial court found 

the evidence "showed a 'valid [Terry l contact' supported by 

'reasonable suspicion."' Opinion, 14 ( alteration in original). "As 

a result," the court of appeals concluded, "Rotter does not show 

that the court likely would have reached a different result had he 

moved to suppress evidence under CrR 3 .6." Opinion, 14. 

In other words, the court of appeals held the inquiry is 

complete because the trial court found reasonable suspicion, 

regardless of whether that finding was legally correct. This 

circular reasoning is clearly erroneous. It would mean, where a 
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CrR 3.6 issue is litigated and ruled upon in everything but name, 

the issue is insulated from appellate review. 

That, of course, is not what this Court held in State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The court of 

appeals emphasized language in McFarland that, "[i]n the context 

of a defendant's failure to move to suppress evidence, the 

defendant 'must show the trial court likely would have granted the 

motion if made."' Opinion, 12 ( quoting McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 

333-34). But that does not mean the accused must demonstrate the 

particular trial judge would have been subjectively convinced of 

the suppression issue. Rather, the McFarland court just meant "the 

facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error" must be "in the 

record on appeal," such that the accused can demonstrate likely 

success on the merits. 127 Wn.2d at 334; see also State v. Abuan, 

161 Wn. App. 135, 147-48, 257 P.3d 1 (2011) (holding trial court 

"likely would have granted a motion to suppress" where record on 

appeal "affirmatively establishe[ d]" no reasonable suspicion). 
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Rotter's reading of McFarland comports with the term 

"manifest" in RAP 2.5(3), which simply means obvious or readily 

apparent from the record. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 

108,217 P.3d 756 (2009); State v. McNeamey. 193 Wn. App. 136, 

142, 373 P.3d 265 (2016). In McFarland, the record was 

insufficiently developed to review the suppression issue, and so 

any error was not manifest. 127 Wn.2d at 333-34. Here, as 

discussed, all facts necessary to review the Tu!IY stop issue are in 

the record and so the error is manifest, i.e., reviewable on appeal. 

The court of appeals' erroneous refusal to consider Rotter's 

constitutional claim on the merits warrants review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). The court of appeals' misuse of McFarland 

further warrants review under RAP 13 .4(b )( 1 ). 

2. Review is warranted to determine whether there 

is insufficient evidence that Rotter acted with 

premeditated intent to kill Officer Rocha. 

Rotter argued on appeal that the prosecution failed to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that he premeditated the death of 

Officer Rocha. Br. of Appellant, 19-27. "The element of 
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premeditation distinguishes first and second degree murder." State 

v. Bingham, 105 Wn.2d 820, 823, 719 P.2d 109 (1986). 

Premeditation "must involve more than a moment in point of 

time." RCW 9A.32.020(1 ). It "cannot simply be inferred from the 

intent to kill." State v. Commodore, 38 Wn. App. 244, 247, 684 

P.2d 1364 (1984). 

The court of appeals held sufficient evidence supported the 

jury's finding of premeditation. Opinion, 11. The court reasoned 

Rotter first "lied to Officer Rocha about the gun concealed in a 

shoulder holster under his left arm," by denying the presence of a 

gun on his person and then lifting his bulky coat in a way that 

concealed the gun. Opinion, 9. Rotter then "struggled to keep his 

right hand free so he could reach the concealed gun" when Officer 

Rocha tried to handcuff him. Opinion, 9. After that, Rotter shot 

Officer Rocha five times-twice in the shoulder area before 

moving the gun and firing three times at Officer Rocha's head. 

Opinion, 9. 
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Contrary to the court of appeals' conclusion, though, this 

evidence at most suggests the possibility not the likelihood of 

premeditation, which is insufficient to support the charge. 

"Premeditation may be proved by circumstantial evidence where 

the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the evidence 

supporting the jury's finding is substantial." State v. Pirtle, 127 

Wn.2d 628, 643, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). But "an inference is not 

reasonable if based on speculation or conjecture." State v. 

Jameison, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 197, 421 P.3d 463 (2018). 

Consequently, courts may not "infer a circumstance when no more 

than a possibility is shown." Id. at 198. "When an inference 

supports an element of the crime, due process requires the 

presumed fact to flow more likely than not from proof of the basic 

fact." Id. at 200. "When evidence is equally consistent with two 

hypotheses, the evidence tends to prove neither." Id. at 198. 

Rotter's concealment of the gun fails to establish 

premeditation on a more likely than not basis, as opposed to Rotter 

simply trying to avoid discovery of the weapon due to his felon 
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status. This is corroborated by the fact that Rotter gave several 

evasive explanations for the rifle in the backseat, claiming at times 

it was BB gun, explaining it belonged to his friend, and generally 

trying to deflect ownership ofit. CP 442-43. Rotter similarly tried 

to avoid discovery of the gun on his person, which could have 

given Officer Rocha probable cause to arrest him and likely search 

his vehicle, where Rotter had his drug stash. It is speculative to 

say anything more than Rotter just wanted to be left alone and not 

give Officer Rocha further reason to detain him. 5 

Rotter struggling to keep his right hand free and then firing 

five shots is likewise insufficient for premeditation. These actions 

occurred over just 25 seconds. Ex. 141; see Bingham, 105 Wn.2d 

at 822, 827 (holding three to five minutes of manual strangulation 

insufficient to find premeditation). Rotter reacted with violence 

5 The court of appeals did not, at least, adopt the prosecution's 
new theory on appeal that Rotter carrying the gun for self­
protection as a matter of course established premeditated intent 
to cause the death of Officer Rocha. Br. of Resp't, 18-19, 25; 
Reply Br., 1-9 (addressing this new theory). 
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only after Officer Rocha pushed him against the Mini Cooper and 

tried to handcuff him. From the time the gun can be seen on video 

to the time Rotter fired all five shots was four seconds. Ex. 141. 

All of this happened while the struggle was ongoing, with no 

opportunity for "deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for 

a period of time," as required for premeditation. State v. Brooks, 

97 Wn.2d 873, 876, 651 P.2d 217 (1982). Rotter's actions were 

equally consistent with impulsive, reactive violence due to his drug 

use and impaired executive functioning as it was with 

premeditation. It is therefore impermissible speculation to draw 

an inference of premeditation from that evidence. 

The court of appeals' conclusion to the contrary warrants 

review under RAP 13 .4(b )(3 ), because sufficiency of the evidence 

is a constitutional question. 
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3. Review is warranted to determine whether a 
police officer's "ultimate conclusion" that the 
evidence is "consistent with" drug dealing 
amounts to an improper opinion on guilt. 

Before trial, Rotter moved to exclude expert testimony by 

Detective Greg Mueller, who reviewed the evidence found in the 

Ford Fusion and concluded it was indicative of drug dealing rather 

than personal use. CP 150-51. Rotter argued Detective Mueller's 

testimony would be "tantamount to allowing him to tell the jury to 

convict on Count 3." RP 35. The trial court denied Rotter's 

motion and admitted the testimony. RP 37. 

At trial, Detective Mueller offered what the prosecution 

repeatedly termed his "ultimate conclusion" about the drug 

evidence. RP 2101, 2107, 2111. Detective Mueller testified the 

amount of methamphetamine "would be more consistent with 

dealing" than personal use. RP 2109. He gave the same opinion 

about the amount of heroin. RP 2109. As for the amount of 

suspected fentanyl pills, he opined, "[m]ost definitely dealing." 

RP 2110. He further testified the firearms and possible drug ledger 
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were also consistent with drug dealing rather than using. RP 2111-

13. Detective Mueller then gave his ultimate conclusion: "Taking 

everything into consideration, as I do, it was much more consistent 

with drug dealing." RP 2114. 

The court of appeals held Detective Mueller "did not 

express a personal opinion on Rotter's guilt" and instead simply 

commented that the evidence was "more consistent with drug 

dealing than with personal use." Opinion, 24-25. The court of 

appeals reasoned this same "consistent with" language was 

condoned in State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577,592, 183 P.3d 

267 (2008). Opinion, 23. The Montgomery court explained, "To 

avoid inviting witnesses to express their personal beliefs, one 

permissible and perhaps preferred way is for trial counsel to phrase 

the question 'is it consistent with' instead of 'do you believe,"' 

phrasing approved of in State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 

P.3d 125 (2007). Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 592-93. 

However, neither Montgomery nor Kirkman are apt here. 

In both cases, the defendants did not object to the challenged 
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testimony and so the issue on appeal was whether they could 

demonstrate manifest constitutional error (they could not). 

Montgomery. 163 Wn.2d at 596,601; Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 938. 

Rotter, by contrast, objected to Detective Mueller's testimony and 

so the issue is preserved in Rotter's appeal. 

Simply adding the phrase "consistent with" to obvious 

opinion testimony inappropriately skirts our inviolate jury trial 

right enshrined in the Washington Constitution. CONST. art. I, § 

21. "No witness, lay or expert, may testify to his opinion as to the 

guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference." 

State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336,348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Opinion 

testimony is improper when it "'leaves no other conclusion but that 

a defendant is guilty."' State v. Fleeks, 25 Wn. App. 2d 341, 369, 

523 P.3d 220 (quoting State v. Cruz, 77 Wn. App. 811, 815, 894 

P.2d 573 (1995)), review denied, 1 Wn.3d 1014 (2023). 

In Fleeks, for instance, the jury learned a detective told 

Fleeks during an interrogation that he should make himself "look 

not so cold-hearted." 25 Wn. App. 2d at 369. This usurped the 
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jury's fact-finding function because "it improperly commented on 

Fleeks's intent and effectually directed the jury to not believe 

Fleeks's self-defense theory." Id. at 370. The detective's remark 

"could easily appear to the jury as a belief that Fleeks was guilty 

of murder, not acting in self-defense." Id. 

If the comment in Fleeks was an improper opinion on guilt, 

then Detective Mueller's testimony was, too. Detective Mueller 

repeatedly offered his "ultimate conclusion" on the drug 

evidence-far more direct than in Fleeks. This clearly conveyed 

Detective Mueller's opinion that Rotter was engaged in drug 

dealing. The testimony left "no other conclusion but that" Rotter 

was guilty of possession with intent to deliver and, in turn, had 

motive to kill Officer Rocha to conceal his drug dealing. Throwing 

in the phrase "consistent with" does not change that. Giving the 

prosecution a free pass so long as its witness uses the phrase 

"consistent with" undermines our state constitutional right to have 

the jury decide all issues of fact. 
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Review of this constitutional question is warranted under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), as well as RAP 13.4(b)(2), given the apparent 

conflict with Fleeks. 

4. Review is warranted to determine whether the 

prosecution committed reversible misconduct in 

closing argument. 

In closing argument, the prosecution remarked, "There are 

very few things that I agreed with what Dr. Wachsmuth said 

yesterday, but one of the things that she said and wrote that I'm in 

complete agreement is that the defendant didn't go to Everett, 

Washington, from Kennewick with the plan to harm anyone." RP 

2624 ( emphasis added). Defense counsel did not object. RP 2624. 

Rotter argued on appeal that the prosecutor's remark 

constituted a clear and unmistakable personal opinion on Dr. 

Wachsmuth's credibility. Br. of Appellant, 55-56. Using the first 

person constitutes an "explicit expression[] of personal belief." 

Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 594. "There is no other reasonable 

interpretation of the phrase." State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 

438,326 P.3d 125 (2014). 
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The court of appeals agreed but nevertheless concluded, 

"because the court could have cured the improper comment by an 

admonishment to the jury to disregard the prosecutor's personal 

opinion, Rotter waived the error." Opinion, 20. 

Not so. Rotter presented a credible diminished capacity 

defense that he did not premeditate Officer Rocha's death, given 

the combined effects of his mental illness and drug use. Dr. 

Wachsmuth's testimony was the cornerstone of that defense. But 

the prosecutor undermined Dr. Wachsmuth's credibility through 

improper means, telling the jury he did not believe Dr. 

Wachsmuth, thereby indicating the jury should not either. Once 

the jury heard the prosecutor's personal opinion of Dr. 

Wachsmuth's credibility, there was no erasing the prejudice from 

that. Indeed, a prosecutor's personal expressions of guilt or 

credibility are "likely to have significant persuasive force with the 

jury." In re Pers. Restraint Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 706, 286 

P.3d 673 (2012) (quoting AM. BAR Ass'N, Standards for Criminal 

Justice std. 3-5.8 (2d ed. 1980)). 
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Review of this constitutional issue is warranted under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). See State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 428, 

220 P.3d 1273 (2009) (recognizing prejudicial error occurs when 

prosecutor expresses clear and unmistakable person opinion on 

witness credibility); Opinion, 20 ( discussing Anderson for the 

relevant legal standard). 

E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should grant 

review and reverse the court of appeals. 

DATED this 18th day of March, 2025. 

I certify this document contains 4,994 words, excluding 

those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

MARY T. SWIFT, WSBA No. 45668 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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2/1 8/2025 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WASH I NGTON 
D IVIS ION ONE  

STATE OF WASH I N GTON ,  

Respondent ,  

V.  

ROTTER,  R ICHARD JAM ES,  

A el lant .  

No. 85246-9- 1 

U N P U BL ISHED O P I N ION 

BOWMAN , J .  - Richard James Rotter shot and  ki l led Everett Po l ice 

Department Officer Dan Rocha i n  a Starbucks parki ng lot. Rotter appeals h is  

convict ions and sentence .  He argues that ( 1 ) insufficient evidence supports the 

j u ry's determ i nation that he premed itated the mu rder ,  (2) he was un lawfu l ly 

seized , (3) the prosecutor committed m isconduct on cross-examinat ion and 

du ri ng clos ing arguments , (4) a detective provided improper op in ion test imony, 

and (5) a cumu lat ion of the above errors requ i res reversa l  of h is convictions .  

Rotter a lso asserts (6) the to-convict instruction for possess ion of a contro l led 

substance with i ntent to manufactu re or de l iver lacked an essential e lement and 

(7) the court erred by impos ing a v ictim penalty assessment (VPA) . We affi rm 

Rotter's convictions but remand for the tria l  cou rt to resentence Rotter on the 

possess ion of a contro l led substance count and to stri ke the VPA from h is 

j udgment and sentence .  
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FACTS 

On March 25 ,  2022 , Rotter d rove a friend 's M i n i  Cooper from the Tri-C ities 

to Everett to buy a Ford Fus ion from a Craigs l ist sel ler .  Rotter met the se l ler at a 

Starbucks i n  north Everett , test d rove the car, and purchased it i n  cash .  Rotter 

then stayed i n  the Starbucks parki ng lot and began mov ing i tems from the M in i  

Cooper to the Ford Fus ion . The cars were parked s ide-by-s ide fac ing the street 

with the i r  trunks fac ing the Starbucks . 

At the same t ime,  around 2 : 00 p . m . , Officer Rocha was i ns ide the 

Starbucks ,  waiti ng for h is  coffee order .  As seen on Officer Rocha's body-worn 

camera (BWC) , 1 he looked outs ide the window i nto the parki ng lot and noticed 

Rotter transferri ng a gun  between the M i n i  Cooper's front passenger door and 

the Ford Fus ion 's front d river door .  Rotter tried to conceal the transfer by leav ing 

the Fus ion 's back d river's-s ide door open .  Officer Rocha walked out of the 

Starbucks and rad ioed in the s ituat ion as "suspicious . "  He then approached 

Rotter near the trunks of the cars and said , " 'Hey ,  how's it go ing? Do me a 

favor, bud , leave the guns a lone .  Ok?' " Officer Rocha then asked , " 'What's 

go ing on with the g uns , ' " and Rotter responded , " ' [N]oth i ng . ' " Rotter then to ld 

Officer Rocha the g un  was a BB g u n .  

Around that t ime,  Officer Rocha rece ived a ca l l  from Everett Pol ice Patro l 

Officer Ora Hame l .  Officer Rocha to ld Rotter, " ' [D]o me a favor, j ust hang t ight 

1 The appel late record also conta ins a transcri pt of Officer Rocha's i nteractions 
with Rotter as captured on h is  BWC. Along with Officer Rocha's BWC footage, two 
bystanders also recorded the i ncident-one used h is  cel l  phone to record the i ncident 
from i ns ide the Starbucks and the other used her cel l  phone to record video from her 
apartment above the Starbucks park ing lot .  The court adm itted a l l  three v ideos at tria l . 
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for a second. '  " Officer Rocha answered his cell phone and explained to Officer 

Hamel that he " 'saw a guy moving a gun from one car to another car.' " After the 

cal l ,  Officer Rocha asked Rotter for identification and whether he had any guns 

on h im.  Rotter denied having any guns on his person .  Officer Rocha then patted 

down Rotter's waist and front jacket pockets while Rotter held up his large and 

bulky jacket. Officer Rocha did not locate the firearm Rotter wore in a concealed 

shoulder holster under his left arm . 

Rotter gave Officer Rocha his driver's license, which Officer Rocha ran 

through dispatch. Dispatch informed him there was an active domestic violence 

assault warrant for Rotter's arrest, which Officer Rocha communicated to Rotter 

and said, " 'So, you're not free to go. ' " Officer Rocha asked dispatch to verify 

that Rotter is " 'not a convicted felon. ' " Rotter overheard the question and 

admitted that he is a convicted felon, which dispatch confirmed . Shortly after, 

Officer Rocha determined that Rotter was lying about the gun being a BB gun 

and told Rotter he was " 'being investigated on suspicion of unlawful possession 

of a firearm. '  " 

At that point, Rotter became agitated as Officer Rocha explained, " 'You're 

a convicted fe lon, which you confirmed . . . .  You told me that it was a BB gun. 

And now you just told me it wasn't. . . .  So is that a BB  gun,  yes or no?' " Rotter 

said, " ' I don't know,' " and Officer Rocha told him they were going to " 'hang tight 

[until his] partner' " arrives. But Rotter began to turn toward the Ford Fusion and 

point at it. Officer Rocha instructed him, " 'Don't go towards the car.' " At the 

same time, Rotter kept pointing at the car and repeating the phrase, " ' I 'm just 

3 
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sayi ng . ' " Officer Rocha then to ld Rotter he was be ing " 'detai ned' " because he 

was not comp lyi ng . He to ld Rotter to put his hands beh i nd h is back. But Rotter 

ignored the instruction . 

Officer Rocha then g rabbed Rotter's left arm to handcuff h im wh i le Rotter 

strugg led to keep h is rig ht arm free. Officer Rocha ordered Rotter to put h is rig ht 

hand beh i nd h is back but Rotter aga in  ig nored the command . As Officer Rocha 

moved Rotter to the g round , Rotter reached under his left arm with his rig ht hand , 

took the gun  out of h is  concealed shou lder ho lster , and shot Officer Rocha twice 

i n  the shou lder area. 2 Rotter then moved the gun  up to Officer Rocha's head and 

shot h im point-b lank th ree more t imes i n  the left s ide of h is head . The gunshots 

to Officer Rocha's head k i l led h im a lmost immed iate ly. 3 Rotter then got i n  the 

M i n i  Cooper, put it i n  reverse , backed up  over Officer Rocha's body,  and d ragged 

h im severa l feet . He then ran over Officer Rocha aga in  as he fled the parki ng lot. 

Several people saw the shooti ng and cal led 9 1 1 .  

Rotter d rove erratica l ly through Everett , h itt i ng other cars as po l ice officers 

pursued h im .  At one po int ,  Rotter d rove onto a s idewalk .  He eventua l ly crashed 

the M i n i  Cooper i nto two other cars in an i ntersection ,  which was severe enoug h 

to cause a van to ro l l  over on its s ide .  He then got out of the "destroyed" M i n i  

Cooper. Everett Po l ice Lieutenant Timothy Col l i ngs ordered Rotter to "get on the 

g round now. "  Rotter eventua l ly compl ied , putt ing up his hands ,  taki ng off h is 

2 One bu l let embedded i n  Officer's Rocha's bu l letproof vest below h is  left armpit 
and did not penetrate h is  body . 

3 The med ica l  exami ner testified that " [a]ny one of those three [gunshot wounds 
to Officer Rocha's head] wou ld  have caused h is  death . "  
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empty shoulder holster, and then lying facedown on the ground. Everett Police 

Officer Devin Hackett handcuffed Rotter and searched him, during which Rotter 

screamed repeatedly, "They're after me." And later, "Help me." Rotter also 

asked Officer Hackett several times to "break his neck." 

When medical personnel examined Rotter at the scene, Rotter told them 

he had ingested fentanyl. A blood sample drawn at 3 : 1 5  p .m.  showed the 

presence of methamphetamine and fentanyl in Rotter's system .  When the police 

searched the Ford Fusion, they found, among other things, rolls of aluminum foi l ,  

plastic baggies with suspected methamphetamine and heroin, 1 ,950 suspected 

fentanyl pills, a digital scale,  a "drug ledger," a .22 caliber rifle, two boxes of .22 

caliber ammunition, loose ammunition ,  a BB gun, a knife ,  and five loaded 

magazines for a 9 mi l l imeter handgun.  

The State charged Rotter with aggravated first degree murder with a 

firearm enhancement, count 1 ;  second degree unlawful possession of a firearm , 

count 2; possession of a controlled substance with intent to manufacture or 

deliver with a firearm enhancement, count 3 ;  and attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle with an endangerment to others aggravator, count 4. While in jai l  

awaiting trial ,  Rotter made hundreds of recorded phone calls and "video visits." 

In one cal l ,  he explained the incident by saying, "It's like a cat, take a wild cat and 

try to put a wild cat inside a cage. Yeah try that, yeah see what happens." 

In  February 2023, the trial court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine the 

admissibil ity of Rotter's statements to police; specifica lly, the audio and video 

footage recorded by Officer Rocha's BWC. The court found that all of Rotter's 
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statements to Officer Rocha were noncustod ia l  and adm iss ib le at tria l . I n  maki ng 

its CrR 3 . 5  ru l i ng , the court commented that because Officer Rocha saw Rotter in 

the parki ng lot "moving items between two d ifferent cars" and "conceal [ ing]  what 

he was do ing , "  Officer Rocha had reasonable suspic ion to conduct a Terry4 stop 

and i nvestigate for theft. 

In March 2023 ,  the case proceeded to a j u ry tria l . The State ca l led 

Detective Gregory Muel ler ,  who testified as a d rug trafficki ng expert . 5 Detective 

Mue l ler  said that in h is experience ,  the q uantity of d rugs found in Rotter's car and 

the i r  street value suggested d rug dea l i ng , not personal consumption . Rotter 

offered test imony from cl i n ical psycho log ist Dr. Wend i  Wachsmuth . Dr .  

Wachsmuth testified that Rotter suffered from post-traumatic stress d isorder ,  

pervas ive depress ive d isorder ,  a m i ld neurocog n itive d isorder ,  and several 

substance use d isorders .  She opi ned that g iven those d iag noses , Rotter was 

unable to premed iate the murder because it wou ld  be "very d ifficu lt for h im . . .  to 

do someth ing so p lanfu l  and organ ized . "  

The j u ry found Rotter gu i lty as  charged . I n  Apri l 2023 ,  the tria l  cou rt 

sentenced Rotter to l ife imprisonment without the poss ib i l ity of parole p lus a 

consecutive 96 months for the fi rearm enhancements .  It found Rotter ind igent 

and waived a l l  cou rt costs but imposed a $500 VPA. 

Rotter appeals . 

4 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U . S .  1 ,  88 S .  Ct. 1 868 ,  20 L .  Ed . 2d 889 ( 1 968) . 

5 Whi le  Muel ler  is an Everett Po l ice Department officer, he is also a detective with 
the Snohomish Reg iona l  Drug Task Force , a mu lt i -agency partnersh ip  of loca l ,  state , 
and federal officers , agents ,  and personnel  that "focus primari ly on [erad icati ng] i l lega l  
narcot ics . "  
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ANALYS IS  

Rotter arg ues ( 1 ) insufficient evidence supports that he premed itated the 

murder of Officer Rocha ,  (2) he was un lawfu l ly se ized , (3) the prosecutor 

committed severa l acts of m isconduct ,  (4) Detective M uel ler offered improper 

op in ion test imony, and (5) cumu lation of the above errors req u i res reversal of h is 

convictions .  He also asserts (6) a to-convict j u ry instruct ion om itted an essentia l  

e lement and req u i res resentencing and (7)  we shou ld remand for the court to 

stri ke the VPA. We add ress each argument in tu rn . 

1 .  Suffic iency of Premed itat ion Evidence 

Rotter arg ues insufficient evidence supports the j u ry's determ inat ion that 

he premed iated the murder of Officer Rocha .  We d isag ree . 

We review de nova the suffic iency of evidence .  State v. Hummel, 1 96 

Wn . App .  329 ,  352 , 383 P . 3d 592 (20 1 6) .  To determ ine whether sufficient 

evidence supports a conviction , we view the evidence in the l i ght most favorable 

to the State and consider whether "any rat ional  trier of fact cou ld have found the 

essential e lements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt . "  State v. DeJesus, 

7 Wn . App .  2d 849 ,  882 , 436 P . 3d 834 (20 1 9) .  A suffic iency chal lenge adm its 

the truth of the State's evidence and accepts the reasonable i nferences made 

from it . State v. Fedorov, 1 8 1 Wn . App .  1 87 ,  1 93-94 , 324 P . 3d 784 (20 1 4) .  We 

defer to the fact-fi nder on issues i nvolv ing confl i cti ng test imony, witness 

cred ib i l ity , and the persuas iveness of the evidence .  DeJesus, 7 Wn . App .  2d at 

883 . C i rcumstantial evidence and d i rect evidence are eq ua l ly re l iab le i n  

determ in ing the suffic iency of evidence .  State v. Scanlan, 1 93 Wn .2d 753 ,  770 , 

7 
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445 P.3d 960 (201 9). But "inferences based on circumstantial evidence must be 

reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." State v. Vasquez, 1 78 Wn.2d 

1 ,  1 6, 309 P .3d 3 1 8  (201 3) . 

Premeditation differentiates first degree murder from second degree 

murder. State v. Bingham, 1 05 Wn.2d 820, 823, 71 9 P.2d 1 09 (1 986). 

Premeditation requires deliberation of more than a mere "moment in point of 

time." RCW 9A.32.020(1 ). The State must show "the del iberate formation of and 

reflection upon the intent to take a human life" by "thinking beforehand, 

deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however 

short." State v. Hoffman, 1 1 6  Wn .2d 51 , 82-83, 804 P.2d 577 (1 991 ). The State 

may prove premeditation by circumstantial evidence where the jury's inferences 

are reasonable and substantial evidence supports its verdict. State v. Pirtle, 1 27 

Wn .2d 628, 643, 904 P.2d 245 (1 995). But premeditation cannot be inferred 

merely from an intent to ki l l .  State v. Commodore, 38 Wn . App. 244, 247, 684 

P.2d 1 364 (1 984) . There are four characteristics particularly relevant to 

establishing premeditation: "motive, procurement of a weapon, stealth, and the 

method of kil l ing." OeJesus, 7 Wn . App. 2d at 883. 

Here, the trial court instructed the jury that to convict Rotter of first degree 

murder, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Rotter "acted with 

intent to cause the death of [Officer] Rocha" and that "the intent to cause the 

death was premeditated ." It instructed that "[a] person acts with intent or 

intentionally when acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result that 

8 
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constitutes a crime." And, consistent with controll ing case law, the jury 

instruction defining "premeditation" states: 

Premeditated means thought over beforehand. When a 
person ,  after any deliberation, forms an intent to take human life ,  
the kil l ing may follow immediately after the formation of the settled 
purpose and it will still be premeditated .  Premeditation must 
involve more than a moment in point of time. The law requires 
some time, however long or short, in which a design to kill is 
deliberately formed. 

The court also instructed the jury that in determining whether Rotter had the 

abil ity to form premeditation ,  it could consider "[e]vidence of mental i l lness or 

disorder." And that "in determining whether the defendant acted with 

premeditation, evidence of intoxication may be considered ." 

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational 

trier of fact could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Rotter acted with 

premeditation. The evidence showed that Rotter carried a gun to protect his 

drugs but lied to Officer Rocha about the gun concealed in a shoulder holster 

under his left arm. Specifica lly, Rotter denied having any guns on his person 

when Officer Rocha ask him directly if he did,  then manipu lated his bulky coat to 

hide the gun during Officer Rocha's pat down. And when Officer Rocha tried to 

arrest Rotter, Rotter struggled to keep his right hand free so he could reach the 

concealed gun.  Further, after Rotter shot Officer Rocha twice in his shoulder 

area, he moved the gun up and shot Officer Rocha point-blank in the head three 

times. The jury also heard evidence from a jai l  call where Rotter explained the 

incident by saying, "It's like a cat, take a wild cat and try to put a wild cat inside a 

cage. Yeah try that, yeah see what happens." 

9 
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Citing Austin v.  United States, 382 F.2d 1 29 (D.C.  Cir. 1 967), abrogated in 

part on other grounds by United States v. Foster, 783 F.2d 1 082 (D.C.  Cir. 1 986), 

Rotter argues that insufficient evidence supports premeditation. He contends 

that violence and multiple wounds standing alone cannot support premeditation. 

And that possession of a gun alone does not support premeditation because he 

"did not procure [a weapon] for the purpose of kil l ing Officer Rocha." 

In  Austin, the defendant and the victim were seen together at an after­

hours establishment before driving off together in the defendant's truck around 

4:30 a .m .  382 F .2d at 1 32. The "Government produced no witness as to what 

happened" after. Id. But around 5:00 a .m . ,  police saw the defendant near the 

victim ,  nearly deceased with 26 stab wounds. Id. A jury convicted the defendant 

of first degree murder and he appealed. Id. at 1 31 .  

The circuit court held that "the Government's evidence was insufficient to 

warrant submission to the jury on the issue of premeditation." Austin, 382 F.2d at 

1 38. The court reasoned that the defendant's use of a knife to accomplish the 

murder was not probative of premeditation because he carried it "as a matter of 

course ." Id. at 1 39.  And that the violence and multiple wounds "standing alone" 

cannot support premeditation .  Id. Further, the defendant's "ample time to 

premeditate and del iberate [between 4:30 a .m.  and 5:00 a .m. ]  is not evidence" 

that he actually premeditated his intent to ki l l .  Id. And finally, the prosecution did 

not show any motive for the crime. Id. The court concluded that "the jury could 

only speculate and surmise, without any basis in the testimony or evidence, that 

appellant acted with premeditation." Id. 

1 0  
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Th is case is d ifferent than Austin . Here ,  the j u ry was not left to specu late 

about premed itation .  The videos show Rotter became ag itated and started 

moving toward the Ford when Officer Rocha to ld h im he was being detai ned . 

And Rotter's statement on the ja i l  ca l l  record ing shows h is des i re to avo id arrest 

and incarcerat ion . The videos of the incident also show Rotter concealed h is gun  

from Officer Rocha ,  kept h is rig ht hand free to g rab the g u n ,  shot Officer Rocha 

two times in the shou lder area, and then de l iberate ly moved the gun  to Officer 

Rocha's head to shoot h im th ree more t imes . Un l ike i n  Austin , the evidence here 

shows that Rotter had motive to ki l l  Officer Rocha ,  used stealth to avo id detect ion 

of the gun  used to ki l l  h im ,  and shot Officer Rocha several t imes i n  a manner that 

ensured h is  death .6 

Viewing the evidence as a whole ,  a rational  j u ror cou ld fi nd premed itat ion 

beyond a reasonable doubt .  Sufficient evidence supports the j u ry's fi nd i ng that 

Rotter premed itated Officer Rocha's mu rder .  

2 .  U n lawfu l Seizure 

Rotter arg ues that Officer Rocha un lawfu l ly seized h im .  Accord ing to 

Rotter, ta i nted evidence obtai ned from the un lawfu l seizure was "crit ical to the 

prosecution 's theory of premed itation , "  so we must reverse h is conviction . The 

State arg ues that Rotter waived this argument by fa i l i ng to chal lenge the seizure 

below. We ag ree with the State . 

Genera l ly ,  we wi l l  not consider an issue ra ised for the fi rst t ime on appeal 

u n less it is a "man ifest error affect ing a constitut ional  r ig ht . "  RAP 2 . 5(a)(3) . To 

6 Rotter also ran over Officer Rocha-twice. 
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show manifest constitutional error, the defendant must "identify a constitutional 

error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected 

the defendant's rights." State v. McFarland, 1 27 Wn .2d 322, 333, 899 P .2d 1 251 

(1 995). In  the context of a defendant's fa i lure to move to suppress evidence, the 

defendant "must show the trial court l ikely would have granted the motion if 

made." Id. at 333-34; see a/so State v. Abuan, 1 61 Wn. App. 1 35, 1 46, 257 P.3d 

1 (201 1 )  (To show actual prejudice, the appellant must establish "from an 

adequate record that the trial court l ikely would have granted a suppression 

motion.") .  If the trial record is insufficient to determine the merits of the 

constitutional claim, the error is not manifest. State v. Kirkman, 1 59 Wn.2d 91 8, 

935, 1 55 P.3d 1 25 (2007). If we conclude there is a manifest constitutional error, 

we then engage in a harmless error analysis. State v. Harris, 1 54 Wn. App. 87, 

94, 224 P.3d 830 (201 0). 

Here, Rotter did not move under CrR 3.6 to suppress evidence in the trial 

court, so the court did not conduct a CrR 3.6 hearing. As a result, Rotter cannot 

raise the issue for the first time on appeal absent a showing of manifest error 

affecting a constitutional right. And he fails to make that showing. 

First, Rotter fails to show that the record is sufficient for us to determine 

the merits of his belated motion to suppress evidence for an unlawful seizure. At 

issue in such a motion is whether a seizure occurred, when the seizure occurred, 

and whether the seizure is supported by reasonable suspicion. See State v. 

Johnson, 8 Wn. App. 2d 728, 735-37, 440 P .3d 1 032 (201 9). The defendant 

bears the burden of showing an unlawful seizure. Id. at 737. 
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CrR 3.6 describes the procedure that courts use to resolve motions to 

suppress. Under CrR 3.6(a), the motion must "be in writing supported by an 

affidavit or document setting forth the facts the moving party anticipates will be 

e licited at a hearing, and a memorandum of authorities in support of the motion." 

If the court determines that no evidentiary hearing is required, it will enter "a 

written order setting forth its reasons." Id. If the court conducts an evidentiary 

hearing, it "shall enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law" after the 

hearing. CR 3.6(b). The purpose of CrR 3.6 is to make a record " 'to aid an 

appellate court on review. ' "  State v. Pulido, 68 Wn . App. 59, 62, 841 P .2d 1 251 

(1 992) (quoting State v. Stock, 44 Wn . App. 467, 477, 722 P .2d 1 330 (1 986)). 

We then review the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law to 

determine whether substantial evidence supports any challenged findings and 

whether the findings, in turn , support the conclusions of law. State v. Russell, 

1 80 Wn .2d 860, 866, 330 P.3d 1 51 (201 4) .  

Here, Rotter did not move to suppress evidence under CrR 3.6, so the 

record contains no affidavit setting forth the facts he believes support an unlawful 

seizure. Nor did the court hold a CrR 3.6 hearing, so no findings of fact or 

conclusions of law related to a motion to suppress exist for us to review. 

Rotter argues that despite his fai lure to comply with CrR 3.6, al l  the facts 

necessary to review whether he was unlawfully seized are in the record on 

appeal .  But the parties developed the record on appeal within the context of the 

State's CrR 3.5 motion. And that rule governs the admission of an accused's 

statements to police. CrR 3.5; see a/so State v. McFarland, 1 5  Wn . App. 220, 
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222, 548 P.2d. 569 (1 976). 

At issue during a CrR 3.5 hearing is whether the defendant was properly 

apprised of his Fifth Amendment rights before any custodial interrogation. See 

State v. Piatnitsky, 1 70 Wn. App. 1 95, 209- 12 ,  282 P.3d 1 1 84 (201 2), aff'd, 1 80 

Wn .2d 407, 325 P.3d 1 67 (201 4) ;  U .S .  CONST. amend V. An encounter is 

custodial when "a reasonable person in the individual's position would believe he 

or she was in police custody to a degree associated with formal arrest." State v. 

Lorenz, 1 52 Wn.2d 22, 36-37, 93 P.3d 1 33 (2004). So, whether a person is 

lawfully seized is a d ifferent question than whether a person is in police custody. 

And, because Rotter failed to request a CrR 3.6 suppression hearing, the State 

had no opportun ity to develop a record to show how the initial seizure was lawful .  

In  any event, even if  the record were adequate for review, Rotter fa ils to 

show actual prejudice. While the trial court did not formally determine when a 

seizure occurred and whether the seizure was lawful ,  it commented in its CrR 3.5 

findings and conclusions that the evidence showed a "valid [Terry] contact" 

supported by "reasonable suspicion." Specifically, it said that 

because [Rotter] was the sole individual moving items between two 
different cars in a parking lot and appeared to be attempting to 
conceal what he was doing, it was reasonable to believe that [he] 
might be involved in a theft. 

As a result, Rotter does not show that the court l ikely would have reached a 

different result had he moved to suppress evidence under CrR 3.6. 

Because Rotter fa ils to show manifest constitutional error, we decline to 

hear for the first time on appeal his argument that Officer Rocha un lawfully 

seized him. 

1 4  



No .  85246-9- 1/1 5 

3 .  Prosecutoria l  M isconduct 

Rotter arg ues that the prosecutor committed m isconduct by aski ng 

Rotter's expert witness "knowing ly objectionab le" questions on cross­

examination ,  g iv ing h is personal  op in ion of the expert's test imony du ring clos ing 

argument ,  and vouch i ng for law enforcement's i nvest igat ion du ri ng rebuttal 

clos i ng argument .  We d isag ree. 

Prosecutor ia l m isconduct may deprive a defendant of h is rig ht to a fa i r  tria l  

u nder the S ixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U n ited States Constitution 

and art ic le I ,  sect ion 22 of our  state constitut ion . In re Pers. Restraint of 

Glasmann, 1 75 Wn .2d 696 , 703-04 , 286 P . 3d 673 (20 1 2) .  To preva i l  on a 

prosecutor ia l  m iscond uct cla im ,  the defendant must show "that i n  the context of 

the record and a l l  of the c i rcumstances of the tria l , the prosecutor's conduct was 

both improper and prejud ic ia l . "  Id. at 704 .  M isconduct is prejud ic ia l  if the 

defendant shows "a substant ia l  l i ke l i hood that the m isconduct affected the j u ry 

verd ict . "  Id. We consider the prosecutor's arguments " i n  the context of the case , 

the arguments as a whole ,  the evidence presented , and the j u ry instructions . "  

State v. Slater, 1 97 Wn .2d 660 ,  681 , 486 P . 3d 873 (202 1 ) .  And we presume the 

j u ry fo l lows the tr ial court's instructions .  State v. Anderson, 1 53 Wn . App .  4 1 7 , 

428,  220 P . 3d 1 273 (2009) . 

When the defendant fa i ls  to object to an improper remark,  he waives the 

error " ' un less the remark is so flag rant and i l l  i ntentioned that it causes an 

endu ri ng and resu lt ing prejud ice that cou ld not have been neutra l ized by an 

admon it ion to the j u ry . ' " Slater, 1 97 Wn .2d at 68 1 (quot ing State v. Russell, 1 25 
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Wn .2d 24 , 86 , 882 P .2d 747 ( 1 994)) . The focus is on whether the resu lt ing 

prej ud ice cou ld  have been cu red . Id. ; see also State v. Dhaliwal, 1 50 Wn .2d 

559 ,  578 ,  79 P . 3d 432 (2003) (" I f  the prej ud ice cou ld have been cu red by a j u ry 

instruction ,  but the defense d id not req uest one ,  reversa l  is not requ i red . " ) .  

A.  Cross-Examinat ion of Dr .  Wachsmuth 

Rotter arg ues that the prosecutor made argumentative and knowing ly 

objectionable statements to Dr .  Wachsmuth " i n  the gu ise of q uestions . "  The 

State arg ues that Rotter waived th is argument by not properly object ing to the 

q uestions and that i n  any event, the q uestions d id not amount to miscond uct .  

We ag ree with the State . 

Attorneys may cross-examine a witness about matters that affect 

cred ib i l ity by showing b ias ,  i l l  wi l l ,  i nterest, or corruption .  Russell, 1 25 Wn .2d at 

92 . But a prosecutor cannot pers istently ask knowing ly objectionable q uestions 

"because it p laces oppos ing counsel i n  the posit ion of havi ng to make constant 

object ions . "  Teter v. Deck, 1 74 Wn .2d 207, 223 , 274 P . 3d 336 (20 1 2) .  A 

prosecutor's improper remarks are genera l ly not g rounds for reversa l  if they were 

i nvited or provoked by defense counsel and are i n  reply to defense counsel 's 

acts or statements .  Russell, 1 25 Wn .2d at 86 . An exception appl ies when the 

remarks are not a perti nent rep ly or are so prej ud ic ia l  that a cu rative instruct ion 

wou ld be ineffective . Id. 

Here ,  defense counsel q uestioned Dr. Wachsmuth on d i rect examinat ion 

about her d iagnoses of Rotter and her op in ion that he "d id not have the ab i l ity" to 

premed itate the murder .  Dr .  Wachsmuth testified that her ro le as a cl i n ical 
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psychologist is "to be as neutral an evaluator as I can be when I 'm making 

certain decisions about a person's mental health functioning." This led to several 

questions by the prosecutor on cross-examination designed to undermine Dr. 

Wachsmuth's credibil ity and neutrality as well as Rotter's defense. Those 

questions are the subject of Rotter's misconduct allegation and discussed below. 

After Dr. Wachsmuth admitted there was "no doubt" that Rotter killed 

Officer Rocha, the prosecutor asked, "So it would be fair  to say that he knew that 

a mental health defense was probably the one option he had, right?" Dr. 

Wachsmuth responded , "I can't say that." As much as that question may have 

been improper, Rotter did not object. And he fails to explain why an instruction 

could not have cured any prejudice. 

The prosecutor later established that Dr. Wachsmuth had not watched the 

video taken by the bystander from inside the Starbucks because, as she stated , it 

might "bias my opinion and my view of what I 'm actually trying to assess." The 

prosecutor clarified, "So your reason for not watching it is because you thought 

that the . . .  video might bias you?" Dr. Wachsmuth said "yes" and the prosecutor 

asked, "Because it's pretty awful stuff, right?" Dr. Wachsmuth responded , 

"Correct. "  Rotter now argues that the latter question was improper. But again, 

he did not object and does not explain how this l ine of questioning was improper 

or prejudicia l .  

Rotter next challenges the prosecutor's questions about Rotter's attempt 

to keep his right hand free when Officer Rocha tried to arrest h im.  When Dr. 

Wachsmuth agreed that Rotter accessed his weapon with his right hand, the 
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prosecutor asked whether "the defendant made some pretty serious and 

susta ined efforts to keep his right hand free so he could access that weapon." 

Dr. Wachsmuth said, " I  don't know why he kept it free." The prosecutor then 

asked, "Wouldn't his actions, once he got his hands on the gun, kind of inform 

why he was keeping that hand free?" Dr. Wachsmuth said, "Sure. Possibly." 

The prosecutor responded , "Okay. Don't play, you know, word games. I mean, 

he's keeping that hand free to get the weapon, correct? Because that's what he 

did." Defense counsel objected and the court susta ined the objection .  

As much as the prosecutor's question may have been argumentative, 

Rotter does not explain how the question amounts to misconduct or how he was 

prejudiced. Particularly when Dr. Wachsmuth did not answer the question, the 

court sustained the objection ,  and it later instructed the jury that the lawyers' 

statements are not evidence. 

Rotter also challenges the prosecutor's questions to Dr. Wachsmuth about 

how Rotter's sources of income did not support his claim that the vast amount of 

high-value drugs he possessed were for his personal use. And that despite Dr. 

Wachsmuth's testimony about her neutrality, she did not question Rotter about 

the inconsistency. 

On cross-examination, Dr. Wachsmuth agreed that Rotter told her that his 

main source of income was disabil ity and that he supplemented that income by 

"fl ipping cars." And she agreed that the jury heard testimony that the police 

d iscovered drugs in Rotter's vehicle valued between $9,000 and $ 15 ,000. The 

prosecutor asked Dr. Wachsmuth, "Would you agree with me that that amount of 
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drugs is an unusually high dollar amount for someone who is on disabil ity and is 

making money by flipping cars?" Defense counsel objected and the court 

susta ined the objection .  

The prosecutor followed up:  

I guess the question ultimately becomes, is that when [Rotter] was 
giving you his description of his work h istory and how he made 
money and his report to you was disabil ity income and flipping cars, 
you didn't challenge him on that based upon your knowledge of the 
drugs that [were] located in the vehicle? 

Dr. Wachsmuth answered, "No." The prosecutor then said, "Okay. You just let 

that one slide?" The court sustained Rotter's objection. 

Again,  Rotter does not explain how these questions amount to misconduct 

or how they prejudiced him. 

Finally, Rotter challenges two of the prosecutor's questions intended to 

discredit Dr. Wachsmuth's testimony that Rotter could not have premeditated 

Officer Rocha's murder. First, the prosecutor suggested to Dr. Wachsmuth that 

Rotter's plan on the day of the incident to drive to Everett and buy a car "sounds 

l ike a lot of planning and a lot of acting based upon that plan." Rotter objected 

and the court susta ined the objection ,  asking the prosecutor to rephrase the 

question ,  which he did.  The prosecutor then asked Dr. Wachsmuth whether it 

was "fair to say it was pretty obvious that [Rotter] was attempting to conceal that 

gun when he lifted his coat up." Rotter objected and the court susta ined the 

objection .  But again, Rotter does not identify how these questions amount to 

misconduct or how he suffered prejudice. 
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Rotter fa i ls  to show that the prosecutor pu rposefu l ly attempted to subvert 

the ru les of evidence or that h is  questions on cross-examinat ion amounted to 

m isconduct .  

B .  C los i ng Arguments 

Rotter arg ues that the prosecutor committed m isconduct by g iv ing h is 

personal  op in ion of Rotter's expert's test imony and vouch ing for law 

enforcement's i nvest igat ion du ri ng clos ing arg uments .  

I .  Personal  Opi n ion 

Rotter arg ues that the prosecutor improperly expressed h is personal 

op in ion of Dr .  Wachsmuth's testimony i n  clos ing argument. The State arg ues 

that Rotter waived this argument because he fa i led to object and an instruct ion 

cou ld have cu red any prejud ice .  We ag ree with the State . 

It is improper for a prosecutor to express their  personal  op in ion about the 

cred ib i l ity of a witness . Anderson, 1 53 Wn . App .  at 428 . To determ ine whether 

the prosecutor is express ing an improper personal  op in ion , we view the 

chal lenged comments i n  context. Id. The comments amount to prej ud ic ia l  error 

on ly when it is clear and unm istakable that the prosecutor is not arg u ing an 

i nference from the evidence but express i ng a personal  op in ion . Id. 

Here ,  Rotter chal lenges the prosecutor's clos ing argument about how Dr .  

Wachsmuth framed the concept of premed itation .  The prosecutor argued to the 

j u ry :  

There are very few th ings that I ag reed with what Dr .  
Wachsmuth sa id  yesterday , but one of  the th ings that she said and 
wrote that I 'm  i n  complete ag reement is that the defendant d id n 't  go 
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to Everett , Wash i ngton ,  from Kennewick with the p lan to harm 
anyone .  That's absol utely correct . 

That's i nterest ing , but it 's not particu larly re levant to what 
you have to decide ,  because that's not the issue .  The issue isn 't  
whether th is g uy ,  when he got up  i n  the morn i ng ,  decided , I 'm go ing 
to go ki l l  a cop .  Because that's not what happened . The evidence 
j ust doesn't  show that. 

But neither does premed itation ,  the lega l  defi n it ion of 
premed itation , req u i re that. 

We ag ree that the prosecutor's comments improperly expressed a 

personal  op in ion about Dr .  Wachsmuth's test imony. But Rotter fa i led to object , 

so he waived the error un less the court cou ld not have cu red it with a j u ry 

instruction .  And because the court cou ld have cu red the improper comment by 

an admonishment to the j u ry to d isregard the prosecutor's personal  op in ion , 

Rotter waived the error. 

I I .  Vouch i ng and Burden Sh ifti ng 

Rotter asserts that the prosecutor imperm iss ib ly vouched for law 

enforcement's i nvest igat ion and sh ifted the burden of proof to h im du ri ng its 

rebuttal clos ing argument .  The State arg ues the prosecutor's comment was not 

prej ud ic ia l  because the court i nstructed the j u ry to d isregard it .  Agai n ,  we ag ree 

with the State . 

I n  clos ing argument, a prosecutor has wide latitude to argue reasonable 

i nferences from the evidence .  Slater, 1 97 Wn .2d at 680 .  But the prosecutor 

"must not refer to evidence that has not been adm itted . "  Id. at 68 1 . A prosecutor 

commits m isconduct by vouch ing for a witness' cred ib i l ity , either by p lacing the 

prest ige of the government beh ind the witness or by suggesti ng that i nformation 

not presented to the j u ry supports the witness' test imony. State v. Stotts, 26 Wn . 
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App .  2d 1 54 ,  1 67 ,  527 P . 3d 842 (2023) . I t  is also improper for the prosecutor to 

argue that the defendant bears the burden of proof. State v. Thorgerson, 1 72 

Wn .2d 438 , 453 ,  258 P . 3d 43 (20 1 1 ) .  

Here ,  i n  h is clos ing argument, Rotter's counsel pointed out that "the 

i nvestigative team made the decis ion that th ree detectives needed to go to Mr. 

Rotter's hometown [ in  the Tri-C ities] to get evidence about - to shed l i ght on h is 

menta l state . . .  because that was sti l l  m iss ing from the State's case . "  Defense 

counsel asserted that the detectives "spent th ree days ta lk ing to witnesses , but 

they d idn 't fi nd anyth ing that they wanted to hear. They d idn 't come back with 

evidence of premed itation , which was . . .  m issi ng . "  Then , in the State's rebutta l ,  

the prosecutor arg ued that " [ i ]f there was evidence ,  good o r  bad , from the Tri­

C it ies , you wou ld  have heard about it . " Rotter objected , and the court sustai ned 

the object ion and d i rected the j u rors to "d isregard the last comment . "  

Assum ing the prosecutor's comment improperly vouched for the 

i nvest igat ion or sh ifted the State's burden , Rotter fa i ls  to show prejud ice .  The 

court ordered the j u ry to d isregard the comment and , agai n ,  "we presume the j u ry 

fo l lows the tr ial cou rt's instructions . "  Anderson, 1 53 Wn . App .  at 428 . 7 

4 .  I mproper Opin ion Test imony 

Rotter arg ues that we must reverse h is agg ravated murder and d rug­

re lated convictions because Detective Muel ler  expressed an improper personal  

op in ion on Rotter's gu i lt that " i nvad [ed] the prov ince of the j u ry . "  We d isag ree . 

7 Rotter argues that even if the prosecutor's cross-examinat ion quest ions and 
clos ing arguments d id  not i nd iv id ua l ly amount to m isconduct ,  the record as a whole 
shows the prosecutor's strategy to d iscred it Rotter's expert through m isconduct .  But no 
evidence supports h is  c la im that the prosecutor engaged i n  such a strategy . 
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An expert witness properly expresses an opinion when it is "not a direct 

comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise 

helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence." State v. 

Smiley, 1 95 Wn . App. 1 85, 1 89-90, 379 P.3d 1 49 (201 6). But opinion testimony 

is improper when it comments on the witness' veracity or intent, tells the jury 

what decision to reach, or concludes that a defendant is guilty. State v. Fleeks, 

25 Wn. App. 2d 341 , 369, 523 P.3d 220, review denied, 1 Wn.3d 1 0 1 4, 530 P .3d 

1 85 (2023). A witness who provides an opinion, directly or by inference, on a 

defendant's guilt violates the defendant's constitutional right to a jury trial. 

Smiley, 1 95 Wn. App. at 1 89. Specifically, it impedes the jury's abi lity to 

independently determine the facts. Fleeks, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 368. 

An expert can express an opinion on a subject even though it embraces 

an ultimate fact to be found by the jury. Kirkman, 1 59 Wn.2d at 929. But to 

avoid witnesses expressing their personal beliefs about the defendant's guilt, 

"one permissible and perhaps preferred way" for trial counsel to question an 

expert is to phrase a question embracing the ultimate fact in terms of " 'is it 

consistent with' instead of 'do you believe. ' " State v. Montgomery, 1 63 Wn .2d 

577, 592, 1 83 P.3d 267 (2008). 

Here, the State asked Detective Mueller on direct examination about the 

amount and value of drugs found in Rotter's vehicle and whether those quantities 

were more consistent with drug dealing or personal use. 

Q .  . . .  [B]ased on the amount of  methamphetamine that is 
there, 1 0 . 1 8  grams, were you able to approximate a street 
value that that would go for? 
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A. I estimated it between $270 and $360. 
Q.  The amount of  drugs that are there, i n  your numerous 

contacts with people that typically are just drug users versus 
drug dealers, did you draw a conclusion as to the amount of 
drugs that are present as to whether or not that is consistent 
with dealing or using? 

A. In my training and experience, it would be more consistent 
with dealing. 

Q. Were you able to approximate a street value as to the 
amount of heroin that was present? 

A. I was . . . .  It was between $1 ,300 and $1 ,625 based on . . .  
that 1 /1 6 of an ounce . . .  sale. 

Q.  Okay. And based on your train ing and experience and 
contact over the years with drug users versus drug dealers, 
was the amount of drugs, the over 20 grams present, more 
consistent with drug using or drug dealing? 

A. Drug dealing, sir. 
Q.  Okay. And then the various suspected fentanyl pills which 

totaled 1 ,950 pills, you talked to us about what the typical 
user amount is and the amounts it would go for. Were you 
able to approximate a street value of the fentanyl that was 
found in that black camera bag? 

A. That was between $7,800 and over $1 3,000. 
Q.  Okay. And based on your train ing and experience in 

contacting drug traffickers and drug users, was this more 
consistent with personal use or dealing? 

A. Most definitely dealing. 

Viewed in context, Detective Mueller did not express a personal opinion 

on Rotter's gui lt .  I nstead, his testimony made inferences from the evidence and 

"explained the arcane world of drug dealing," which "was helpful to the trier of 

fact in understanding the evidence." State v. Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 706, 

71 1 ,  904 P.2d 324 (1 995). 

Sti l l ,  Rotter argues that like a detective's testimony in Montgomery, 

Detective Mueller's testimony was improper. In  that case , the detective testified 

he " 'felt very strongly that [the defendants] were, in fact, buying ingredients to 
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manufactu re methamphetamine . '  " Montgomery, 1 63 Wn .2d at 587-88 .  Our 

Supreme Court concluded the op in ion was improper because it "went to the core 

issue and the on ly d isputed element ,  [the defendant] 's i ntent. " Id. at 594 .  The 

court noted it was "very troub l i ng "  that the test imony "used exp l icit express ions of 

personal  bel ief. " Id. 

As d iscussed above , Detective M uel ler d id not express a personal  bel ief 

that Rotter possessed d rugs with the i ntent to d istribute them .  I nstead , he 

commented genera l ly that the amount of d rugs and other evidence seized from 

Rotter's car were more consistent with d rug deal i ng than with personal use. The 

test imony was not improper. 

5. Cumu lative Error 

Rotter arg ues that the above cumu lative errors of insufficient evidence 

support ing premed itation ,  un lawfu l seizure ,  prosecutoria l  m isconduct ,  and 

Detective M uel ler's improper op in ion test imony den ied h im a fa i r  tria l . We 

d isag ree. 

The cumu lative error doctri ne app l ies when a cumu lation of errors prod uce 

a fundamental ly unfai r  tria l . State v. Emery, 1 7  4 Wn .2d 7 4 1 , 766 , 278 P . 3d 653 

(20 1 2) .  App l ication of the doctri ne " is  l im ited to cases where there have been 

severa l tria l  errors . "  State v. Azevedo,  31 Wn . App .  2d 70 ,  85-86 , 547 P . 3d 287 

(2024) . Because Rotter has not shown severa l errors ,  he is not entit led to re l ief 

under the cumu lative error doctri ne .  
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6. To-Convict J ury I nstruction 

Rotter arg ues that the to-convict j u ry instruct ion for count 3 ,  possess ion of 

a contro l led substance with i ntent to manufacture or de l iver ,  om itted an essential 

e lement and req u i res resentencing . The State concedes error and ag rees Rotter 

shou ld be resentenced on that count .  

We review the om ission of an element from a to-convict instruct ion de 

nova . State v. Clark-El, 1 96 Wn . App .  6 1 4 , 6 1 9 ,  384 P . 3d 627 (20 1 6) .  Even 

when a defendant fa i ls  to object to the instruct ion at tria l , the error is of sufficient 

constitutional  mag n itude to warrant review on appea l .  Id. 

A to-convict j u ry i nstruct ion must i nc lude a l l  essentia l  e lements of the 

crime charged . Clark-El, 1 96 Wn . App .  at 6 1 8 .  "When the identity of a contro l led 

substance i ncreases the statutory maximum sentence which the defendant may 

face upon conviction ,  that identity is an essentia l  e lement. " Id. A ju ry instruct ion 

that om its an essent ia l e lement is harm less if it appears beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the error d id not impact the verd ict . Id. at 620 . But if a cou rt " imposes 

a sentence that is not authorized by the j u ry's verd ict ,  harm less error ana lys is 

does not app ly . "  Id. at 624 . 

Here ,  the State charged Rotter with possess ion of a contro l led substance 

with i ntent to manufactu re or de l iver, "to-wit : Fentanyl , Heroi n ,  and 

Methamphetamine . "  Al l th ree substances elevate the crime of possess ion and 

i ntent to d istribute to a class B fe lony. RCW 69 . 50 .40 1 (2) (a) , (b) ; see RCW 

69 .50 .204(b)( 1 1 ) (hero in  is a sched u le I contro l led substance) ; RCW 

69 .50 .206(c) (9) , (d) (2) (fentanyl and methamphetam i ne are sched u le I I  contro l led 

26 



No .  85246-9- 1/27 

substances) . But the to-convict instruction req u i red the j u ry to fi nd on ly that 

Rotter had the i ntent to manufactu re or de l iver "a contro l led substance , "  which is 

a class C fe lony. RCW 69 . 50 .40 1 (2) (c) . Sti l l ,  the court sentenced Rotter as if the 

j u ry found h im gu i lty of a class B fe lony. 

The State concedes that sentencing Rotter to a class B fe lony without a 

fi nd ing from the j u ry that Rotter possessed a specific contro l led substance was 

error. See Clark-El, 1 96 Wn . App .  at 624-25 .  I t  a lso ag rees that Rotter must be 

resentenced on that count. We accept the State's concess ion and remand for 

resentencing on count 3 .  

7 .  VPA 

F ina l ly ,  Rotter arg ues that the tria l  cou rt erred by impos ing a $500 VPA 

under former RCW 7 .68 . 035( 1 ) (20 1 8) because he was ind igent at the t ime of 

sentencing . The State concedes the court shou ld stri ke the VPA on remand . We 

accept the State's concess ion . 

The tr ial cou rt sentenced Rotter on Apri l 1 7 , 2023 and found h im i nd igent 

at the t ime.  It waived a l l  fi nancia l  ob l igat ions except the VPA. Th ree months 

later on Ju ly 1 ,  2023 ,  the leg is latu re's amendment to RCW 7 .68 . 035 took effect, 

p rovid ing that the court "sha l l  not impose the penalty assessment under th is 

section i f  the court fi nds that the defendant ,  at the t ime of sentencing , is i nd igent 

as defi ned i n  RCW 1 0 . 0 1 . 1 60(3) . "  LAWS OF 2023 ,  ch . 449 ,  § 1 ;  RCW 

7 .68 . 035(4) . 

Althoug h the statutory amendment d id not go i nto effect unt i l  after Rotter's 

sentencing , our  Supreme Court has held that statutory amendments perta i n i ng 
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"to costs imposed upon conviction" apply prospectively to cases that are not yet 

final .  State v. Ramirez, 1 9 1 Wn .2d 732 , 749, 426 P .3d 7 1 4 (201 8) ;  see also 

State v. Ellis, 27 Wn . App .  2d 1 ,  1 6 , 530 P .3d 1 048 (2023) ("Although [the] 

amendment [to RCW 7 .68 .035] wi l l  take effect after [the defendant]'s 

resentencing ,  it appl ies to [the defendant] because th is case is on d i rect 

appeal .") . Because Rotter's case was on d i rect appeal at the time the 

amendment to former RCW 7 .68 .035(1 ) took effect, we remand to strike the 

VPA. 

We affirm Rotter's convictions but remand for the trial court to resentence 

h im on count 3 and to strike the VPA from his judgment and sentence .  

WE CONCUR: 

\ 
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